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functioning redevelopment agency should have been able to produce in a timely fashion, e.g.,
lists of Agency-funded housing projects, budgets and general ledgers, bank account
statements, and complete audit reports. Indeed, Both Emie Nishii, the Agency's Housing
Manager, and Lorry Hempe, the Agency's current Assistant City Manager and designated
"person most qualified" on affordable housing issues, testified that the Agency's records were
so disorganized that it would be difficult for the Agency te determine even how man
redevelopment projects it had been involved in; and, given the state of the records, perhaps
impossible to reconstruct the Agency‘s current inclusionary housing, replacement housing,
and LMIHF-related obligations. Relevaht excerpts from true and correct copies of the
certified transcripts of Ernie Nishii's and Lerry Hempe's depositions are attached to this
declaration as Exhibit A (Nishii Dep. 41:17-21, 43:1-5; Hempe Dep., Vol. 1, 148:7-151:14),
As aresult of the Agency‘s appalling record-keeping, Plaintiffs' couhsel, including attorneys
from Gibson Dunn, had in some cases to create from scratch records the Agency should have
been maintaining in the course of its operations.

e.  Fifth, the Agency officers and staff members deposed, including the Agency's
designated "persons most qualified," lacked sufficient knowledge to answer certain basic
questions about Agency's redevelopment activities or finances. For example, Roger Haley,
the Agency's Executive Director, and both designated "persons most qualified"-—Lorry
Hempe, Assistant City Manager, who testified about redevelopment activities; and Christy
Valencia, Deputy Director of Finance, who testified about the Agency’s finances—were
unable to verify whether the Agency had a separate and ségregated LMIHF as required by
law. Mr, Haley testified that he did not know whether the Agency maintained a separate bank
account for the LMIHF but that Lorry Hempe would know. Ms. Hempe testified that she

 simply assumed set aside funds were being properly deposited into an LMIHF by the City's

Finance Department. Ms. Valencia testified that the Agency maintained a LMIHF but could
not readily explain where those funds were maintained or how the Agency accounted for
them. Relevant excerpts from true and correct copies of the certified deposition transcripts of

Roger Haley, Lorry Hempe, and Christy Valencia are attached to this declaration as
6 _
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Exhibit B (Haley Dep. 88:13-92:3; Hempe Dep. Vol I, 443:22-445:25; Valencia Dep.
149:17-153:6). Similarly, Ms. Hempe testified that she did not know—and because of the
disarray of the Agency's records, could not create an accurate list of—the number of
properties purchased with, or the number of housing projects assisted by, funds from the
LMIHF. Relevant excerpts from a true and correct copy of the certified transcript of

Ms. Hempe's deposition are attached to this declaration as Exhibit C (Hempe Dep., Vol. 1,

145:24-147:20). As a result, Plaintiffs' counsel had to depose all but two of the Agency's

officers and staff, including the Agency's "person most qualified” for three full, though
somewhat fruitleé& days, in an effort to obtain answers to such questions. Some of these

-depositions may have been avoided had the Agency's designated "persons most qualified”—
who, as the attached excerpts from Lorry Hempe's deposition transcript illustrate, repeatedly
professed ignorance about basic facts concerning Agency projects and finances—had been
better prepared for their depositions.

12, The difficulty of assessing the evidence in this case was matched only by the difficulty
of obtaining it. Remarkably, the Agency did not provide a single timely response to any of Plaintiffs'
numerous discovery requests. Responses that it did provide were invariably inadequate, requiring
Plaintiffs to move for further responses—as was the case with, for example, Plaintiffs' Motion for
Issue and Evidence Sanctions, which involved, among other discovery responses, the Agency's
nonresponsive and evasive Second Supplemental and Amended Responses to the Form InterIOgatory |
No. 17.1 (served with Plaintiffs' First Set of Requests for Admissions) and was granted by the Court
on December 23, 2008 ("December 23 Order™). Where Plaintiffs’ requests for production of
documents ("RFPs") were involved, the Agency never adequately responded at all, For example, the

i gocuments produced by the Agency in response to Plaintiffs' First Set of RFPs came in at least five

iii%tages': (1) five Disposition and Development Agreements in February 2008; (i) a box of documents

%ﬁn July 2008; (iii) six boxes on September 9, 2008; (iv) one more box of documents in November
2008, after the Court on October 24 granted Plaintiffs Plaintiffs' Motion For Order Compelling
Prpduction of Documents (First Set); and (v) various individual documents emailed by the Agency's

counsel to Plaintiffs’ counsel over the next few weeks. Throughout this litigation, the Agency

7
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repeatedly claimed to be in the process of locating additional responsive documents and reserving the
right io produce them at a léter date. Indeed, the Agency's repeated assertion in its Second
Supplemental and Amended Response to Interrogatory No. 17.1 that it "continues to search for
[responsive documents] that may exist and reserves the right to prodﬁce them when they are located"
was something of a motif in this case. A true and correct copy of these discovery responses is
attached to this declaration as Exhibit D. In the end, the Agency's efforts to produce documents
responsive to Plaintiffs First Set of RFPs was so ihadequate the Court issued evidence sanctions
against the Agency on December 23, prohibiting the Agency from admitting into evidence for any
purpose in this litigation responsive documents not produced by December 31i.

13, The Agency's chronic failure to provide timely or satisfactory discovery responses
required Gibson Dunn's attorneys to engage in extensive law and motion practice. Discovery
motions Jike the ones filed in this case by Plaintiffs' counsel are extremely time-consuming. They
require the moving party's attorney (i) to ascertain the inadequacies of the responses at issue, (ii) to
participate in meet-and-confer sessions, (iii) to draft the moving papers as well as the extremely fact-
intensive supporting declarations, separate statemnents, and—where, as here, time is of the essence—
additional ex parte papers for orders shortening time; and, finally, (iv) to argue the motions. Gibson
Dunn attorneys working on this case dedicated a substantial amount of their hours to such law and
motion practice. From September 2008 to February 2009, Plaintiffs’ counsel filed no fewer than six
discovery-related motions. Notably, the Court granted five of these discovery motions, two on
October 24, 2008, and the remaining three on December 23, 2008. The Court did not hear the sixth
motion, filed in January 2009, because it was taken off calendar pending the Agency's approval of a
tentative settlement agreement negotiated between the Parties’ counsel.

";i 14. Shortly after the New Year} this case reached a critical turning point. As previously
?mentmned on December 23, 2008, the Court granted three Gibson Dunn-drafted discovery motions,
Wordering (1) that the matters covered by Plaintiffs' First Set of RFAs, Plaintiff Jaime Torres's First Set

of RFAs, and Plaintiff Esperanza Rogel's First Sct of RFAs be deemed admitted for all purposes in

the litigation; (ii) that the Agency was prohibited from introducing into evidence any document
i

responsive to Plaintiffy’ First Set of REPs after December 31, 2008; and (jii) imposing monetary

8
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sanctions on the Agency. The issues sanctions alone went a long way toward establishing liability on

all of Plaintiffs’ causes of action. Then, on January 2, 2009, the Agency served its Response to

Plaintiff Oscar Leon's First Set of Requests for Admissions ("Leon RFAs"), admitting each matter

covered by that discovery request. Together, the matters deemed admitted by the Court's December

23 Order with the Leon admissions essentially established liability on each of the affordable housing

causes of action in Plaintiffs’ Complaint, as illustrated by the following chart:

Second )

(Relocation Assistance)

The Agency has never provided relocation assistance to persons
displaced from dwelling units within its jurisdiction. (Torres RFA
No. 5.)

Third

(Inclusionary Housing
Obligations)

The Agency has failed to properly determine both the number of
housing units that actually have been, and the number that should

have been, produced to meet its inclusionary housing obligations.
(Leon RFA Nos, 1-2,)

The Agency has no evidence that, since January 1, 1994, it has
satisfied any of its inclusionary housing obligations relating to any
redevelopment projects. (Leon RFA No. 16.)

Since Janvary 1, 1994, the Agency has failed 10 ensure that the
appropriate percentage of dwelting units developed or substantially
rehabilitated within its jurisdiction was made available at an
affordable housing cost to, and occupied by, persons and families of
low or moderate income. (Leon RFA Nos. 3-4.)

g

Ry T

Fourth

(Replacement Housing
Qbligations)

Since January 1, 1994, the Agency has not produced the appropriate
number of replacement dwelling units it was obligated to produce.
(Leon RFA Nos, 5-6.)

The Agency has no evidence that, from January 1, 1994, through
September 13, 2006, it satisfied any of its replacement housing
obligations. (L.eon RFA No, 17)\

-t The Agency has produced no replacement dwelling units since

September 14, 2006, (Torres RFA No. 9.)

9
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1
2 || Fiftn For each year since January 1, 1994, the Agency has failed to deposit
3 _ ) o at least 20% of the gross tax increment or tax allocation bond
(LMIHF Deposit Obligations) | proceeds into the LMIHF. (Leon REA Nos. 8-9)
4
5
Sixth Since January 1, 1994, the Agency has not made an annual
6 ) determination that LMIHF revenues spent on planning and general
7 (LMIHI? Expenditure administrative costs were necessary for the production, '
Obligations) improvement, or preservation of low- and moderate-income housing.
g (Leon RFA Nos. 12-13.)
9 From FY 1995-1996 to FY 2007-2008 the Agency did not comply
0 I with its obligation to spend excess surplus. (Espinoza RFA Nos. 15-
' 28.)
1 . From FY 2001-2002 to FY 2006-2007, the Agency accumulated an
12 ]J . aggregate excess surplus of at least $20,214,957. (Pls,’ First Set RFA
No. 9-14)
13

| The Agency has not recorded any affordability covenants for
14 : housing units developed with the assistance of LMIHF revenues or
| for housing units it counts toward its inclusionary or replacement

135 housing obligations. (Pls. First Set RFA No. 32-33; Torres REA
16 No. 11.) | |
17 The Agency has not monitored affordability covenants or had them
monitored by others. (Pls.’ First Set RFA No. 34-35; Torres RFA
18 l 1 Nos. 12-13)
194 | Seventh & Eighth Since January 1, 1994, the Agency's redevelopment activities have
o ‘ had discriminatory, adverse, and disproportionate impact on racial
20 (N0n<ﬁlscxlm{nat{0n/F air and ethnic minorities, persons with disabilities, and families with
21 Housing Obligations) children, and further discriminate against the development of
housing reserved for oceupancy by lower-income households. (Leon
22 s RFA No. 26)
23 g
i Many of these matters actnally admitted or deemed admitted were identical to the findings of the

244" . . :

California State Department of Housing and Community Development ("HCD"), which audited the
251

| Agency in 2006. True and correct copies of the Leon RFAs, the A gency's responses to the Leon

26 .

RFAs, and of HCD's final audit letter, dated November 14, 2006, re attached 10 this declaration as
27

i' Exhibits E, F, and G, respectively.
28
Gibson, Dunn & \ 1 U
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5. Even afier HCD's findings and so many of Plaintiffs' key allegations against the

Agency had been established, the Agency refused to engage in any serious settlement discussions

3 H until the eve of trial. To encourage the Agency to come to the table, Mr. McRae on January 9

requested a Mandatory Settlement Conference for January 23. A week Iater,‘on January 16, the
Agency served Plaintiffs with a Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's December 23 Order.

Despite the implication of this motion, Plaintiffs' counsel served the Agency with their MSC

its MSC Statement until 11:34 p.m. the night before the conference. A true and correct copy of the

4

5

6

7 “ Statement long in advance of the MSC date. The Agency, however, did not send Plaintiffs’ counsel
. ,

9

email containing the Agency's MSC statement, sent by Bruce Gridley of Kane, Ballmer & Berkman,
is attached hereto as Exhibit H. Then, when the Parties agreed to move settlement discussions from

the Court to Gibson Dunn's offices nearby, the Agency's counsel showed up more than an hour late,

12 “ and the Parties did not reach a settlement that day.

16.  Plaintiffs' counsel had no choice but to vigorously prepare for trial while continuing its
efforts to resolve the case by settlement. For the attorneys at Gibson Dunn, this entailed:
(a) inspecting and analyzing thousands of pages of Agency documents never produced during

discovery; (b) assembling evidence matrices for each cause of action; (c) consulting with and

27
28

Gibsan, Dunn &
Crutchar LLP

preparing experts for trial; (d) drafting still further motions for relief from discovery abuses;
(e) drafting and issuing third party business records subpoenas on Agency consultants and reviewing

the documents produced in response; and (f) drafting and issuing notices to appear and trial

20 Il subpoenas. Mr. McRae supervised this trial preparation on a daily basis.

17.  Even so, Plaintiffs’ counsel did not give up on the possibility of a settlement.

*fMr. McRae continued to keep the issue of settlement alive through almost daily correspondence with

ol . . . ' : Fodd
23 “i:;&'opposmg coutisel. Mr. McRae even succeeded in getting the Agency to agree to privaic mediation,

13
‘*which the Parties scheduled for February 11. Under Mr. McRae's supervision, Ms. Blanco and

Mr. Castellanet drafted a final settlement offer incorporating many of the concrete issues Mr. McRae

had discussed with opposing counsel. Plaintiffs delivered this letter to the Agency en February 12.

Though the Agency was finally engaging in settlement discussions, there was little basis for

11
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confidence that a comprehensive agreement would be reached, and thus, with less than two weeks
l until trial, Mr. McRae turned his full attention to frial preparation.

18. At this point, I became Plaintiffs’ main point of contact for negotiations with the
. Agency. Discussions got hung up on the issue of attorneys’ fees. Through numerous telephone calls

and emails with opposing counsel, I successfully hammered out the main sticking point by proposing

" certain language 10 include in the proposed Settlement Agreement. During these discussions with
opposing counsel, I also negotiated certain remaining terms and concretized others that had remained

ambiguous. After this extensive negotiation, the Parties reached a final Setilement Agreement in

mid-February, which the Agency approved on February 17, 2009. Gibson Dunn attorneys then

incorporated the approved agreement into a Stipulation aﬁd Proposed Interlocutory Judgment. But
because proceedings were ongoing, the agreement was recast as a Stipulation and Pfoposed Order,
which the Court signed and entered on March 23, 2009. A true and correct copy of the Court's March
23 Order, incorporating the Pa;tti_es' Settlement Apreement, is attached to this declaration as

Exhibit I.

19.  The Settlement Agreement, incorporated into the March 23 Order, is essentially a

consent judgment and permanent injunction. By imposing the following specific, concrete

obligations on the Agency, the March 23 Order provides Plaintiffs with virtually all of the relief they
P requested in their Complaint:

a. Paragraphs 2 and 3 require that the Agency develop at least 42 inclusionary

dwelling units and 41 replacement dwelling wnits,
b, Paragraph 7 requires that the Agency record affordability covenants on all
newly developed inclusionary and replacement dwelling units, as well as all dwelling units

the Agency has ever counted toward the satisfaction of its inclusionary and replacement

housing obligations.

e, Foewa
it PR ST

[ C. Paragraph 8 requires that the Agency establish, fund, administer and use in

accordance with applicable law a separate and segregated LMIHE.

12
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1 d. Paragraph 9 requires that the Agency replenish the LMIHF with at least
2 $312,000 in revenues owed as a result of the Agency's improper calculation of its set-aside
3 “ funds.
4 & Paragraph 10 requires that the Agency deposit $250,000 into the LMIHF to
5 replace improperly expended funds. |
6 f. Paragraphs 11 and 12 provide for the final and mutually binding determination
7 by a redevelopment specialist of the amount of excess surplus and any related interest and
8 | penalties for which the Apency may be liable.
9 g. Paragraphs 14 through 16 provide for the full payment of all relocations
10 assistance owed to persons displaced by Agency activities, including the named Plaintiffs.
11 ‘r h. In 'addition to substantive affordable housing obligations imposed on the
12 Agency, Paragraphs 11 and 12 the Settlement Agreement call for a Redevelopment Specialist
13 r; to determine (i) all amounts of all inappropriate expenses from the LMIHF, and (ii) ail
14 amounts of excess surplus from FY 1996-1997 to FY 2007-2008, as well as any related
15 _ interest and penalties for which the Agency may be liable. Plaintiffs' financial expert, David
16 ~ Nolte of Fulcrum Financial Inquiry LLP, estimated the Agenﬁy‘s excess surplus penalties
17 alone at no less than $4.4 million. A true and correct copy of Mr. Nolte's draft expert report,
lS_l containing this estimate on page 2, is attached to this declaration as Exhibit J.
19 Calculation of Gibson Dunn's Ledestar
20 20.  Gibson Dunn attorneys are required to keep accurate, daily time records recording the
21| amount of time spent on their daily activities and the general substance of their work. I supervised
22} the billing in this case, and have reviewed every single tinie entry by anyone who recorded time to
h

23 :[this matter. Moreover, [ have discussed these time entries in detail with Ms. Blanco and Mr. Brown,
?!E

24 ,g nd have satisfied myself that the time for which we are seeking attorney's fees was reasonably and
4 ,3

23| necessarily spent to prosecute this action. A true and correct copy of the itemized time records for

26 || this matter are attached hereto as Exhibit K. These records have been modified to reflect certain

27 {t time entries for which we are nof pursuing fees. Ialso discovered, during the course of my review,
28
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certain time entries that were mis-entered into our computer system, and which should have been
charged to other clients; these time entries were removed entirely from the attached billing records.

21.  AsofMarch 18, 2009, Gibson Dunn incurred $1,304,645.50 in legal fees and
$38.,810.34 in costs and out-of-pocket expenses in connection with its prosecution of Plaintiffs'
action, At my direction, however, we have excluded from our lodestar figure numerous attomey
(and non-attorney) hours and costs incurred in an effort to seek recovery only for non-duplicative and
particularly relevant work. Toward that end, we hav;e: (a) deducted af! time, regardless of task, of
a:ttomeyé who wortked less than 10 total hours on the case; (b) deducted numerous hours for drafts of
discovery that were not ultimately used; (c) reduced or eliminated attomeys' time entries for

- depositions and hearings where ‘more than one attorney was present; (d) reduced all time éharge for

reviewing and suminarizing deposition transcripts; and, (e) reduced time charged for an attorney's
general background work when the time invested in activities were disproportionate to the time spent
substantively working on the case, |

22, Asnoted in Plaintiffs’ Motion for Award of Attorneys Fees, 1 calculated the Fees
Charged using the firm's actual 2009 rates. The following charis detail the 20:09 rafes of each Gibson
Dunn attorney who worked on this matter, the total charges actually incurred by those attorneys on

this matter through March 17, 2009, and the total amount the fixm has included in its lodestar figure.

Totai lzarne v Fees Actually Incurred & Charged

$905 | 76.75|  $69.458.75| 7. $68.010.75
Partner, JI} 1983

Marcellus A. McRae | $785 335.90 $266,821.50 338.7 $265,879.50
#} Partner, JIb 1988
- Danicl M. Kolkey | $840 03 5252 03 $0
i} Partner, D 1977

Danielle A, Katzir $525 0.4 $210 0 $0

Associate, ID 2004 -

Michael Anthony $495 746.9 $369,715.50 738.77 $365,691.15

Brown

14
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Associate, JD 2005

3 Meghan Blanco $495 766.00 $379,170.00 747.36 $£369,943.20
4 Associate, 1D 2005

5! | Samy L. Sadighi $495 57 $2,821.50 0 $0
M Associate, 1D 2005
6
Melissa L. Barshop $470 46.20 $21,714.00 46.20 $21,714.00
71 | Associate, JD 2006
l .
81 | Tora A Ciccont $400 0.3 $120 0 $0
9 Associate, JD 2007
10} | Kristy S. Grant $345 183.30 $63,238.50 173.58 $59,885.10
0 Associate, JD 2008 4
12 )| | Carol A Fabrizio $345 184.20 $63,659.00 168.70 $58.201.50
Associate, JD 2008 '
13
il | Sonam Makker $345 50.80 $17, 526.00 21.95 $7.572.75
14+ | Associate, JD 2008
158 Brooke L. Myers $345 2770 $9.556.50 2770 $9,556.50
Associate, JD 2008
16 |
17| | Bobbie I. Andelson | $345 71.20 $24,564 23.00 $7.935.00
g Associate, JD 2008 '
1
19 | Carrie A Ligozio $345 75 $2.587.50 0 | $0
“ Associate, JD 2008
20 .
Sam K. Kim $345 33.20 $11,454.00 328 $1,131.60
21l | Associate, JD 2008
22\ 'Hare L. Kim $345 515 $1,776.75 0 $0
23 Associate, JD 2008
bg
24 - Total through 25455 | $1,304,64550 | 2,364.69 | $1235521.05
i1 3/17/09
25 [l
26 | |
27 23.  The following chart details the 2009 rates of each Gibson Dunn paralegal who worked

g ii on this matter, the total charges actually incurred by those paralegals on this matter through

Gitrson, Dunn & 15
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March 17, 2009, and the total amount the firm has included in its lodestar figure.

I'believe the hourly rates for Gibson Dunn's paralegals and litigation support staff are reasonable and

similar to those of paralegals and litigation technical support staff doing similar work at comparable

law firms in Los Angeles. Attached hereto as Exhibit L is a true and correct copy of an article

entitled “Paralegal Pay: Top Managers Earn $102,000 Plus Bonuses,” which appeared in the July

2007 issue of Law Firm Management. The article states that the national median hourly rate for

paralegal werk in mid-2007 was $160.

Total Paralegal Fees Actually Incurred & Charged

Staff Rate Total Hours Total Fees Total Hours Total Fees
Worked Incurred Billed Charged
Lolia C. Gadberry $300 80.75 $24,225.00 20,75 $24.,225.00
Paralegal
Touie S, Hopkins | $295 02 $59.00 0 $0
Paralegal
Deborah D. Hoxie $315 11 $3,465.00 11 $3,465.00
Paralegal
Brian W. Jensen $180.00 8.5 $1,530.00 0 $0
Paralegal
8. A. Leonard $29G.00 30.5 $8.845.00 30.5 $8.845.00
Paralegal -
J. M. Mendith $165.00 37 $610.00 0T 30|
Paralegal
S. A.Bock $295.00 48 $1,416.00 0 $0
Litigation
Database Manager
D. J. Barber, $295.00 1275 $3,761.25 12.75 $3.761.25
?Practice Systemns
J LAnalyst
{C. H. Jones $160.00 34 $544.00 0 $0
éSuppo:’c Staff
Total through 155.60 | $42,455.00 135  §40,296.00
3/17/09
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24.  The following charts detail Gibson Dunn's total costs incurred for the litigation of

Plaintiffs’ action through March 17, 2009.

Total Expenses Actually Incurred & Chareed
£ i S i SR

Court Fees $40.00 $40.00
Document Retrieval Service $139.50 $139.50
Document Search and Retrieval $467.66 $467.66
Freight and Shipping $18.66 $0
In House Duplication $9,280.17 $0
Meals $402.10 $0
Messenger and Courler Expense $896.56 $896.56
On-Line Research (Lexis) $11,362.93 $11,362.93
On-Line Research (Westlaw) $5,826.19 $5.826.19
On-Line Research Nexis-Main $1,679.71 $1,679.71
Outside Duplication and Binding $1,008.31 $1,008.31
Outside Process Server $6,060.84 $6,060.84
Outside Services/Consultants $514.41 $514.41
Reference Materials $25.00 $0
Specialized Research / Filing Fees $324.18 $324.18
Telephone Charges $1,276.81 $0
Transcripts / Digesting $10.460.30 $10.460.30
Travel - Parking $16.00 $16.00

| Travel - Taxi / Miles $13.75 $13.75
Total $49,813.08 $38,810.34
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Our practice is to process these expenses contemporaneously and enter them into a computerized
accounting system maintained by Gibson Dunn's accounting depariment, and I understand that this
practice was followed in connection with this case. 1have reviewed the expenses with Mr. McRae,
Ms. Blanco, and Mr. Brown to satisfy myself of their accuracy, appropriateness, and fairness.
Expenses related to the fee demand served on the Agency and preparation of Plaintiffs' Motion have
not been included at this time. All of the Jisted expenses are of the type Gibson Dunn customarily
bills to its clients. Furtherrﬁore, all of the listed expenses were reasonably necessary to the
prosecution of Plaintifis’ claims. For example, copying of documents was necessary to create a
database of Agency documents that Gibson Dunn shared with co-counsel via a secure FTP website
and to provide attorneys with sufficient time to review and analyze them, and online use of the Lexis
and Westlaw databases was necessary to conduct the background legal research supporting the

numerous motions, ex parte applications, discovery requests, and other court filings prepared by

Gibson Dunn's attorneys.
Prevailing Billing Rates

25, 1am generally familiar with the hourly rates charged by general practice firms in Los
Ahgeles, and am specifically familiar with the hourly rates of firms such as O'Melveny & Myers,
Latham & Waikins, and Irell & Manella, which both we and the legal community consider to be
among our peer firms. In particular, I am generally familiar with the hourly rates charged by such
firms for attorneys of comparable skill, reputation and experience, and our hourly rates are consistent
with the rate structures of such firms. The hourly billing rates charged by Gibson Dunn's attorneys
on this case are also consistent with the rates charged by other national and international law firms
with offices in Los Angeles for attorneys of comparable skill, reputation and experience, as shown by
an article entitled “A Nationwide Sampling of Law Firm Office Billing Rates,” which appeared in the
becember 8, 2008, issue of The National Law Journal. This article, a true and correct copy of which

tis attached as Exhibit M, lists the 2008 billing rates for the following national and international firms

with offices in Los Angeles:

a; Manatt Phelps & Phillips's rates ranged from $290 to $505 for associates and

from $490 to $850 for partners.
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b. Reed Smith's rates ranged from $235 to $580 for associates and from $375 to
$900 for pariners.

C. Sheppard, Mullin, Richter & Hampton's rates ranged from $275 to $455 for
associates and from $475 to $795 for partners.

d. Hogan and Hartson's rates ranged from $150 to $550 for associates-and from
$375 to $900 for partners.

e.  Hughes Hubbard & Reed's rates ranged from $270 to $600 for associates and
from $625 to $875 for partners.

f. Steptoe and Johnson's ranged from $210 to $685 for associates and from $350
to $895 for partners. |

g White & Case ranged from $160 10 $920 for associates and from $550 to
$1,260 for partners.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing

is true and correct.

April 9, 2009 _W
' ayne Barsky
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

MATTEL, INC., et al.

CASE NO. CV 04-9049 DOC (RNBx)
Plaintiffs,
O R D E R GRANTING IN PART
\ A AND DENYING IN PART MGA

ENTERTAINMENT, INC., MGA
ENTERTAINMENT (HK) LTD.,
MGAE DE MEXICO S.R.L. DE CV,
AND ISAAC LARIAN’S
APPLICATION FOR AN AWARD
OF ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND
COSTS

MGA ENTERTAINMENT, INC., et al.
Defendants.

AND CONSOLIDATED ACTIONS

N e e N s s e e s o s st et st o e’

Before the Court is MGA Entertainment, Inc., MGA Entertainment (HK) Limited,
MGAE de Mexico S.R.L. de CV, and Isaac Larian (collectively “MGA™)’s Application for
Attorneys’ Fees and Costs Under Section 505 of the Copyright Act. The Court referred the
Application to the Special Master for Discovery. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 53(a)(C). Mattel did not
initially object to the Special Master’s appointment, but states that it “did not consent to the
[Special] Master’s evaluation of MGA’s fee applications.” Because any interest in convenience
must yield to Mattel’s right to a judicial determination, the Court STRIKES the Special Master’s

Report and Recommendation.
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_I.__ Introduction

Section 505 of the Copyright Act provides that “[i]n any action under this title, the court
in its discretion may allow the recovery of full costs by or against any party other than the United
States or an officer thereof.” 17 U.S.C. § 505. “[T]he court may also award a reasonable
attorney’s fee to the prevailing party as part of the costs.” Id. The statute’s use of the word
“may” makes clear that a prevailing party is not always entitled to recover its costs. Fogerty v.
Fantasy, Inc., 510 U.S. 517, 114 S.Ct. 1023 (1994).

The court’s exercise of discretion under Section 505 is guided by a single equitable
inquiry: did the successful prosecution or defense “further the purposes of the Copyright Act[?]”
Fantasy, Inc. v. Fogerty, 94 F.3d 553, 559 (9th Cir. 1996); Perfect 10, Inc. v. CCBill LLC, 488
F.3d 1102, 1120 (9th Cir. 2007). Factors relevant to that inquiry may include “frivolousness,
motivation, objective unreasonableness (both in the factual and in the legal components of the
case) and the need in particular circumstances to advance considerations of compensation and
deterrence.” Lieb v. Topstone Indus., Inc., 788 F.2d 151, 156 (3d Cir. 1986)." These factors are
not exclusive, id., or mandatory, Fogerty, 94 F.3d at 558, and must always yield to the purposes
of the Copyright Act, Fogerty, 510 U.S. at 534 n. 19. “Faithfulness to the purposes of the
Copyright Act [] is the pivotal criterion.” Fogerty, 94 F.3d at 558.

II.  Discussion

Unlike many other statutes, the Copyright Act limits the rights it confers, and prevents
other jurisdictions from enlarging those rights. 17 U.S.C. § 301. Thus, “the policies served by
the Copyright Act are more complex, more measured, than simply maximizing the number of
meritorious suits for copyright infringement.” Fogerty, 510 U.S. at 526. By restricting the rights
of copyright holders, the Act ensures that “private motivation [] ultimately serve[s] the cause of
promoting broad public availability of literature, music, and the other arts.” See id. at 526-27
(quoting Twentieth Century Music Corp. v. Aiken, 422 U.S. 151, 156, 95 S.Ct. 2040 (1975)).

“The primary objective of copyright is not to reward the labor of authors, but ‘[t]o promote the

! Mattel is not an impecunious litigant. See Mattel, Inc. v. Greiner & Hauser
GmbH, 354 F.3d 857, 859 (9th Cir. 2003).
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_ 1] _Progress_ of Science and useful Arts.””” Feist Publ’ns, Inc.v. Rural Tele. Serv. Co.,499 U.S. 340, |
2| 361,111 S.Ct. 1282 (1991). This purpose is satisfied when the public can “build freely upon the
3| ideas and information” in the public domain. /d. at 349-50.

4 A.  Recovery of Fees
5 In this case, Mattel claimed that it owned valid copyrights in the concept sketches and
6| sculpts for the “Bratz” line of dolls and that every generation of “Bratz” dolls released by MGA
7| infringed those copyrights. The breadth of Mattel’s infringement claim corresponded with its
8 | request for “more than $1 billion dollars in copyright damages” and an “injunction prohibiting
9| MGA from producing or marketing virtually every Bratz female fashion doll, as well as any
10| future dolls substantially similar to Mattel’s copyrighted Bratz works.” Mattel, Inc. v. MGA
11| Entm’t, Inc., 616 F.3d 904, 910 (9th Cir. 2010). This request for relief was predicated on
12| Mattel’s mistaken expectation that it owned the “ideas” in the copyrighted works; and the mere
13| specter of that relief may have clouded MGA’s business prospects, bolstered Mattel’s status, and
14| changed the landscape of the fashion doll industry. Cf. Ideal Steel Supply Corp. v. Anza,
15 F3d __ ,2011 WL 2557618, at *19 (2d Cir. June 28, 2011) (“In light of (i) the broad scope of
16| RICO (and what might constitute proceeds from a RICO ‘predicate act’), and (ii) the specter of
17| paying treble damages, the mere threat of such a suit would chill competition.”).
18 The Ninth Circuit held that only a small minority of Mattel’s claim “might” be
19| reasonable. Mattel, 616 F.3d at 917. This Court agreed on remand, finding “no indicia of

20| sufficient disagreement” that all but six Bratz dolls did not infringe the concept sketches and

21| sculpts. Mattel, Inc. v. MGA Entm’t, Inc., ___F.Supp.2d __, 2011 (C.D. Cal. Jan. 5, 2011).

22| Regardless of Mattel’s disputed claim to ownership of the concepts sketches and sculpts, these

23| rulings, prompted by MGA, prevented Mattel from stifling the dissemination of “fashion dolls
24| with a bratty look or attitude,” Mattel, 616 F.3d at 916, and encouraged the widespread

25| “production of original . . . artistic . . . expression for the good of the public.” Fantasy, 94 F.3d

26| at 557 (quoting Fogerty, 510 U.S. at 524).

27

2 Contrary to Mattel’s argument, its copyright claim affected more than just “which

28 company would provide Bratz to the public.” Mattel’s request for an injunction, as well

3-
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There are compelling equitable reasons to award MGA its attorneys’ fees. MGA secured
the public’s interest in a robust market for trendy fashion dolls populated by multiple toy
companies, not just Mattel or even MGA. Cf. Fogerty, 94 F.3d at 556 (“Fogerty’s vindication of
his copyright in “The Old Man Down the Road” secured the public’s access to an original work
of authorship and paved the way for future original compositions-by Fogerty and others-in the
same distinctive “Swamp Rock” style and genre.”); see also Mattel, 616 F.3d at 917 (“Mattel
can’t claim a monopoly over fashion dolls with a bratty look or attitude, or dolls sporting trendy
clothing-these are all unprotectable ideas.”). A fee award accounts for this lawsuit’s detrimental
impact on MGA’s sales, as well as the economic benefit Mattel may have obtained by distracting
its primary competitor with litigation. Cf. Fogerty, 94 F.3d at 556 (“Further, the district court
found that a fee award was appropriate to help restore to Fogerty some of the lost value of the
copyright he was forced to defend.”). MGA’s successful defense also nudged copyright law in |
the direction of “free expression” by appealing to basic principles about the unprotectability of
ideas, instead of relying on “technical defense[s], such as the statute of limitations, laches, or the
copyright registration requirements.” Id. MGA’s contribution to the state of the law in the field
of copyright in a case of this magnitude and notoriety cannot be understated; its failure to
vigorously defend against Mattel’s claims could have ushered in a new era of copyright litigation
aimed not at promoting expression but at stifling the “competition” upon which America thrives.
Mattel, 616 F.3d at 918; cf. Fogerty, 94 F.3d at 556 (“Finally, the benefit conferred by Fogerty’s
successful defense was not slight or insubstantial relative to the costs of litigation.”).

Mattel argues that MGA’s successful defense could not have furthered the purposes of
copyright law because Mattel’s underlying claim was reasonable. This argument is factually and
legally incomplete. In many cases involving reasonable claims, a successful defense is no more
effective than a successful prosecution at furthering the purposes of copyright law, and a fee

award to the defendant is therefore inappropriate. See Lotus Dev. Corp. v Borland Int’l, Inc.,

as the legal reasoning offered in support of that request, attempted to justify a restriction
on every other prospective doll designer from producing “fashion dolls with a bratty look
or attitude, or dolls sporting trendy clothing.” Mattel, 616 F.3d at 916.

4
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140 F.3d 70, 75 (1st Cir. 1998); Matthew Bender & Co. v. W. Publ’g Co., 240 F.3d 116, 122 (2d
Cir. 2001); see also Harris Custom Builders Inc. v. Hoffineyer, 140 F.3d 728, 730-31 (7th Cir.
1998). But that is a rule of thumb, not rule of law, and Mattel’s insistence that objective
unreasonableness is a prerequisite to the recovery of costs under Section 505 defies clear
authority to the contrary.

Indeed, Justice Thomas wrote separately in Fogerty to express concern about the
disparate treatment of prevailing parties seeking attorneys’ fees under identically worded
statutes. Justice Thomas’ concurrence recognized that unreasonableness is not a prerequisite to
the recovery of attorneys’ fees in a copyright case:

Under the Title VII provision, a prevailing plaintiff ‘ordinarily is to be awarded

attorney’s fees in all but special circumstances,” whereas a prevailing defendant is

to be awarded fees only ‘upon a finding that plaintiff’s action was frivolous,

unreasonable, or without foundation.” By contrast, under the Court’s decision

today, prevailing plaintiffs and defendants in the copyright context ‘are to be

treated alike,” and ‘attorney’s fees are to be awarded to prevailing parties only as a

matter of the court’s discretion.’

Fogerty, 510 U.S. at 536 (emphasis added) (Thomas, J., concurring in judgment).

In any event, Mattel’s claim — that the reproduction of the look of a “girl with too much
makeup on” must be remedied by a billion dollars in damages and injunctive relief — is far less
reasonable than the claim in Fogerty, which reached the jury in its entirety. 94 F.3d at 556.> By
and large, the protected features of subsequent generation “Bratz” dolls “are nothing like” the
concept sketches and sculpts to which Mattel claimed ownership. Mattel, 616 F.3d at 917.
Differences in the “fashions and hairstyles” are plainly evident and Mattel never argued that any

such similarities existed. Instead, Mattel claimed that the types and placement of features

3 The Ninth Circuit awarded defendant his fees and costs on appeal, even though
plaintiff’s appeal raised close and difficult legal issues. See Fogerty, 94 F.3d at 561.
There was no discussion of reasonableness; the court considered it sufficient that “it
served the purposes of the Copyright Act for [defendant] to defend an appeal so that the
district court’s fee award would not be taken away from him.” Id.

-5-
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depicted in the concept sketches and sculpts were protectable merely because they made the
dolls “look younger.” Mattel, 2011 WL 1114250, at *16. But it is well-established that
copyright protection does not extend to ideas, especially not ubiquitous ideas like young and
fashionable females. Id.; see also Mattel, 616 F.3d at 917. Mattel had been reminded of this
black letter law in prior litigation. See, e.g., Mattel, Inc. v. Goldberger Doll Mfg. Co., 365 F.3d
133, 136 (2d Cir. 2004) (“An upturned nose, bow lips, and wide eyes are the ‘idea’ of a certain
type of doll face. That idea belongs not to Mattel but to the public domain.”).

Mattel argues that its claim could not have been unreasonable because the prior district
court judge entered its requested injunctive relief. Far from demonstrating the reasonableness of
its copyright claim, the fact that Mattel convinced a judicial officer to commit legal error
underscores the value of MGA'’s persistent defense in furthering the purposes of copyright law.
Judges occasionally make mistakes, and sometimes, as in this case, those mistakes are
unreasonable. See Mattel, 616 F.3d at 917 (“It might have been reasonable to hold that some of
the Bratz dolls were substantially similar to Bryant’s sketches, especially those in the first
generation. But we fail to see how the district court could have found the vast majority of Bratz
dolls . . . substantially similar[.]”). MGA’s successful defense prevented that error from
affecting the outcome of this lawsuit and setting poor precedent in the field of copyright.

Mattel also argues that its copyright claim did not offend the policies served by copyright
law because some evidence supported its ultimately unsuccessful assertion of ownership over the
concept sketches and sculpts. But ownership of the copyrighted work is only one element of a |
successful copyright claim, and it is often uncontested. See Feist Publ'ns, Inc. v. Rural Tele.
Serv. Co., 499 U.S. 340, 361, 111 S.Ct. 1282 (1991); see, e.g., Fogerty, 94 F.3d at 556. Even if
a plaintiff’s assertion of ownership to a valid copyright is reasonable or even uncontested, the
claim may still aspire to stifle works that “build freely upon the ideas and information” in the
public domain, and a successful defense may further the purposes of the Act. Id.; Feist, 499
U.S. at 349-50. The danger of over-aggressive copyright prosecution that concerned the
Supreme Court in Fogerty was exemplified not by Mattel’s assertion of ownership over the

copyrighted works but by its pursuit of grossly overbroad monetary and injunctive relief.

-6-
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Mattel finally argues that its good faith cannot-be questioned-because-its motivation in -
filing suit is the subject of a separate action presently pending before this Court and in which
Mattel has filed a jury demand.* Though Lieb discussed “motivation” as a relevant factor, “a
finding of bad faith, frivolous or vexatious conduct is no longer required,” Fogerty, 94 F.3d at
960, and the Court fails to ’see its applicability here. Had Mattel advanced a meritorious
copyright claim, the presence of a nefarious motivation (excepting a purpose to “harass, cause
unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the cost of litigation,” see Fed. R. Civ. P. 11) might not
have entitled MGA to a fee award. Lotus Dev. Corp., 140 F.3d at 75 (“Arguably, there is
nothing inherently improper about bringing a claim that is well-founded in law and fact against
one’s competitors, even when legal action, if successful, will inflict severe economic
consequences upon them.”). Similarly, the Copyright Act’s interest in creative freedom is no
more vindicated by a successful defense against an unreasonable claim brought by a mischievous
plaintiff as it is by a successful defense against an unreasonable claim brought by a clean-hearted
plaintiff. See Screenlife Establishment v. Tower Video, Inc., 868 F. Supp. 47, 51-52 (S.D.N.Y.
1994) (citing Diamond Star Bldg. Corp. v. Freed, 30 F.3d 503 (4th Cir. 1994)). Mattel’s claim
posed a serious threat to the public’s access to free and competitive expression; the possibility
that Mattel ignored decades-old principles about the unprotectability of ideas in good faith is not
an excuse and does not diminish the benefits society will reap as a result of MGA’s successful
defense.

B. Calculation of Attorneys’ Fees and Costs
1.  Invoices

MGA has filed its attorney invoices in support of its Application and, pursuant to this

* In support of its argument that Mattel acted in bad faith, MGA asks the Court to
consider the conduct of Mattel’s attorneys. However, the Court’s duty is to do “justice
between the parties,” see Elder v. Holloway, 984 F.2d 991, 998 (9th Cir. 1993) (Kozinski,
J., dissenting from denial of petition for rehearing), not the attorneys. Mattel’s attorneys
may represent the company in litigation, but the Court’s Orders affect Mattel, and the
company should not have to account for its lawyers’ independent conduct.

-
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Court’s order, submitted unredacted versions of those invoices for review in camera.’ Mattel
has moved to compel the production of those unredacted invoices pursuant to the rule that
invoices submitted in support of a request for attorneys’ fees “should be redacted only to the
extent absolutely necessary to protect information covered by the attorney-client privilege or the
wotrk-product doctrine.” U.S. v. $1,379,879.09 Seized From Bank of America, 374 Fed. Appx.
709, at **1 (9th Cir. Mar. 19, 2010) (emphasis in original) (citing MGIC Indem. Corp. v.
Weisman, 803 F.2d 500, 505 (9th Cir. 1986)); see also Reynolds v. Beneficial Nat. Bank, 288
F.3d 277, 286 (7th Cir. 2002). Mattel’s position is legally sound; this Court has recognized that
the submission of in camera information or argument circumvents the adversarial process.® See
Hearing Tr., dated December 20, 2010, Vol. I-B, at 21:8-17. But that concern has been partially
alleviated here, because MGA has served Mattel with redacted copies of its attorney invoices
that (1) identify the number of hours each attorney dedicated to the case on a monthly basis; and
(2) categorize attorney hours between time spent on MGA'’s affirmative claims and time spent
on MGA'’s defense against Mattel’s claims. Further detail could be necessary for Mattel to
assess the reasonableness of the fees charged, but Mattel has expressly waived any objection to

the “rates” charged by MGA'’s attorneys or the allocation of time on “particular tasks.” Hearing

> Contrary to Mattel’s argument, MGA did not waive the attorney-client privilege
or work product doctrine.

% Despite the Court’s admonition, the parties have requested a number of in
camera proceedings over the course of this lawsuit and, particularly, during discovery.
For instance, Mattel demanded that its in-house counsel be examined in camera about his
factual investigation prior to the filing of this lawsuit prior to testifying about that subject
in connection with MGA’s statute of limitations defense. Mattel also requested that its
outside counsel and in-house counsel be subject to in camera examination before being
exposed to the adversarial process in connection with MGA’s claim that Mattel concealed
evidence about its market research tactics — conduct that ultimately resulted in a finding
of liability against Mattel. MGA likewise requested that its outside and in-house counsel
be subject to in camera examination in connection with Mattel’s claims that the
company’s communications with its lawyers about the withholding of an email chain
were made in furtherance of a crime or a fraud as well as Mattel’s claim that MGA
suborned perjury.
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Tr., dated May 25, 2011, Vol. IV, at 41-42.7

Mattel argues that it needs to review MGA’s unredacted invoices in order to object to the
“apportionment” of fees between MGA’s defense against Mattel’s claim for copyright
infringement and MGA’s defense against Mattel’s other claims. But information relevant to
apportionment, including legal strategy and the results of witness interviews, is covered by the
attorney-client privilege and work product doctrine. Weisman, 803 F.2d at 505; Federal Savings
and Loan Ins. Corp. v. Ferm, 909 F.2d 372 (9th Cir. 1990) (noting that in camera review of
attorney invoices was necessary to protect “the confidentiality of Ferm's communications with
her counsel and her counsel’s mental impressions concerning litigation strategy”); In Re Grand
Jury Witness, 695 F.2d 359 (9th Cir. 1982) (“[Clorrespondence between attorney and client
which reveals the client’s motivation for creation of the relationship or possible litigation
strategy ought to be protected. Similarly, bills, ledgers, statements, time records and the like
which also reveal the nature of the services provided, such as researching particular areas of law,
also should fall within the privilege.”). Mattel already has information about MGA’s monthly
bills and its attorneys’ allocation of time between affirmative and defensive claims. The risk of
disclosing specific information about seven years of MGA’s legal strategy is particularly
concerning in this case, since both parties are involved in several lawsuits, including a lawsuit
against each other in this Court. If the parties were no longer engaged in litigation or if Mattel
agreed to some reciprocal production of its own attorney invoices, the Court might have lent
greater credence to Mattel’s claimed due process concern. But granting this demand for
additional transparency, despite the absence of any objection to the hourly rates and time

allocation by MGA’s attorneys, gives Mattel a one-way view into the litigation strategy of a

7 Mattel has opposed the production of its own billing records by noting its lack of
objection to the reasonableness of MGA'’s fees. Had Mattel so objected, its own billing
records may have been relevant. See M. Derfner & A. Wolf, Court-Awarded Attorney
Fees 9 16.02[8][a] at 16-46 (2010 ed.) (“[T]he vehemence or tenacity of the opposition
justifies an increase in the amount of time an attorney must necessarily — and therefore
reasonably — spend in countering the opposition and winning the suit. Similarly, the skill
of an opposing counsel may justify the expenditure of a greater amount of time in
litigation than would ordinarily be reasonable.”).

-






